1989

Western Fiberglass, Inc. v. Kirton, McConkie & Bushnell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(i) as this is an appeal from a final judgment and order in a civil matter of the Third District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

Plaintiff brought an action against the defendant law firm for negligence in representing its interests in the sale of certain manufacturing equipment.

A jury trial was held beginning December 1, 1987 and concluding December 9, 1987.

The jury returned a verdict for the defendant and the plaintiff appeals to recover its damages and for a new trial.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the jury's finding that the plaintiff was 50% negligent was proper.

2. Whether the jury was justified in reducing the damages from that stated in the evidence where no evidence of mitigation or reduction was offered by the defense.

3. Whether the exclusion of evidence of what the plaintiff could have done had it been properly advised of its rights under paragraph 6.03 of the contract was prejudicial error.

4. Whether the exclusion of prior statements of a witness

who testified at the trial was prejudicial error.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiff brought this action against the defendant law firm to recover damages for negligence of its attorney's in representing its interest in the sale of certain manufacturing equipment to a firm known as Untied Fiberglass.

The basis of the plaintiff's claim was that the defendant failed to file the appropriate financing statements to perfect its security in the accounts receivable of United Fiberglass, and that the defendant failed to inform the plaintiff that its rights to retake possession of the equipment in the event of United Fiberglass's default was subject to a lien of Sovran Bank, which took a secured position in the equipment as collateral for the purchase price.

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the defendants and the plaintiff appeals on the grounds set forth below.

FACTS RELEVANT TO THE APPEAL

In 1982 plaintiff was a manufacturer of fiberglass insulation. (RT. Vol. 1 of 6 days, pages 27-32, and Vol. 3 of 6 days, pages 29 and 35).

Ivan Radman was the president of plaintiff and the person who represented the the plaintiff in the transactions giving rise to matters now pending before the court. (RT. Vol. 1 of 6 days, page 22, and Vol. 3 of 6 days, page 35).

Neither the plaintiff nor Ivan Radman had any prior

experience in buying or selling equipment where part of the purchase price was deferred and payment secured by accounts receivable of the purchaser. (RT. Vol. 1 of 6 days, pages 25-26, 30, 34-35, 37-38, and Vol. 3 of 6 days, pages 43-45 and 114-115).

Plaintiff contracted in January 1983 for the sale of certain fiberglass manufacturing equipment to a Virginia Firm known as United Fiberglass (OR. Exhibit 11; and RT. Vol. 1 of 6 days, pages 39-48, 72, 82).

Plaintiff employed defendants' attorneys to represent and protect its interests in the negotiations and closing of the contract (Vol. 1 of 6 days, pages 51-59, and 66; Vol 2 of 6 days, pages 3; Vol. 3 of 6 days pages 134, 139, 140-141; and Vol. 5 of 6 days, pages 133-134).

The contract provided for deferred payments of a portion of the purchase price, which payments were to be secured by the accounts receivable of United Fiberglass (Exhibit 11, paragraph 2.03; RT. Vol. 1 of 6 days, page 86-87).

The defendant attorneys failed to inform or advise the plaintiff or its agents of the need to file financing statements in order to perfect its security interests in the accounts receivable of United Fiberglass (OR. Exhibit 83; RT. Vol. 2 of 6 days, pages 12-15; Vol. 3 of 6 days, pages 161-162; and Vol. 4 of 6 days, pages 34-37, 75-76, and 79).

Defendant attorneys, knowing of the need to file financing statements, did not cause such statement to be filed covering the

accounts receivable of United Fiberglass (RT. Vol. 1 of 6 days, page 34; Vol. 3 of 6 days, pages 99-100, 156-165; and Vol. 4 of 6 days, pages 29-31, and 140).

The contract provided, further, at paragraph 6.03, that in the event of default by United Fiberglass, the plaintiff would have the right to retake possession of its equipment (OR. Exhibit 11, paragraph 6.03; and RT. Vol. 2 of 6 days, pages 4-8).

Although the evidence was in dispute whether Mr. Radman was informed that the plaintiff's right to take back the equipment was subject to the liens of Sovran Bank, the Court excluded testimony of R. Bailie which would have supported the plaintiff's contention that the plaintiff was not so informed (RT. Vol. 4 of 6 days, pages 32, 51, and Vol. 5 of 6 days, pages 63-64).

The only other evidence of whether the plaintiff was informed that its rights to take back the equipment under 6.03 were subject to the liens of Sovran Bank, was the self serving statements of Dwight Williams (RT. Vol. 4 of 6 days, pages 85-87, 101-105).

Further, the Court refused to allow Mr. Radman to testify regarding what could have been done to modify the agreement to protect the equipment had he known that the plaintiff's rights to retake possession were subject to the liens of the bank (RT. Vol. 3 of 6 days, pages 27-28).

During the period between September 1984 and February 1985, the accounts receivable of United Fiberglass which were not subject to a prior lien by Sovran Bank ranged between \$190,000.00

and \$240,000.00 (OR. Exhibits 116 and 117; RT. Vol. 5 of 6 days, pages 22-28 and 54).

In response to the special verdict, the Jury found that the defendant had a duty to perfect a security interest in the accounts receivable on behalf of the plaintiff; that the defendant breached that duty to the plaintiff; and that the plaintiff suffered damages in the sum of \$84,000.00 (RT. Vol. 6 of 6 days, page 79-82).

The Jury found, also, that the plaintiff was 50% negligent in the damages thus assessed (RT. Vol. 6 of 6 days, page 81).

Further, the Jury found that the defendant had a duty to advise the plaintiff that its rights under paragraph 6.03 of the contract were subject to the liens of Sovran Bank; and that the defendants had not breached that duty (RT. Vol. 6 of 6 days, page 81 and 82).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Jury should not have found the plaintiff 50% negligent with regard to the failure to file the financing statements over the accounts receivable of United Fiberglass. The Courts cited have consistently held that a client may not be contributorily negligent with regard to matters entrusted to their attorney, where there are not facts of interference or failure to follow instructions on behalf of the client.

The breach of duty in failing to file the financing statements was so clear that as a matter of law the attorney was negligent, and the plaintiff did nothing to interfere with or

contribute to the fact that the financing statements were not filed.

The defense did not put on any evidence to reduce or mitigate the damages alleged by the plaintiff. Those damages were measured by the level of accounts receivable during the period between September 1984 and February 1985. Having found that the defendants negligent for failing to file the financing statements, the Jury should have found that the evidence was uncontradicted that the plaintiff was entitled to damages in the sum of approximately \$200,000.00.

The trial court erred in excluding the statements of R. Bailie with regard to conversations with, and affidavits given to the plaintiff, qualifying his deposition testimony regarding the plaintiff's knowledge of its rights under 6.03. The strongest evidence in this regard in favor of the defendant was the testimony of Bailie and Williams. Because Bailie was a disinterested witness, his testimony was critical the plaintiff, and its exclusion was detrimental.

The trial court erred in excluding evidence of what the plaintiff could have done had it known the true import of 6.03. An essential element of the plaintiff cause of action was how it would have benefited had the attorney advised it properly. Since this element was excluded by the Court, the plaintiff was denied a full hearing on the merits and should be given a new trial in this regard.

ARGUMENT

I.

The Jury should not have found the plaintiff 50% negligent with regard to the failure to file financing statements over the accounts receivable of United Fiberglass.

Utah's Comparative Negligence statute, UCA 78-27-38, states as follows: "The fault of a person seeking recovery shall not bar recovery by that person. He may recover from any defendant or group of defendants whose fault exceeds his own. However no defendant is liable to any person seeking recovery for any amount in excess of the proportion of fault attributable to that defendant."

Where the defense rests on contributory negligence, the attorney has the burden of proving every element of such contributory negligence. Hansen v. Wightman, 538 P2d 1238; R. Mallen and V. Levit, Legal Malpractice 416, (2nd Ed. 1981).

The courts have usually refused to impose upon the client the duty of supervising the very subject matter of the retention. Legal Malpractice, Section 172, p. 222.

It has been held that the failure to observe statutory requirements in the preparation of a security document, the failure to record it in the proper county, the failure to record it at all, or the failure to inform the client of the necessity for recordation constitute acts of negligence sufficient to hold an attorney liable to his client, if the negligence can be proved and damages shown to be the result of such acts or omissions.

Theobald v. Byers, 13 Cal. Rptr. 864; 87 ALR 2nd 991.

Such omissions by the attorney have been found to be negligence as a matter of law. Practical Offset v. Davis, 404 N.E.2d 516; Degen v. Steinbeck, 142 N.E.2d 328; George v. Caton, 600 P2d 822; Kane, Kane & Kritzer v. Altager, 165 Cal. Rptr. 534.

In the Utah case, Acculog, Inc. v. Keith Peterson, 692 P2d 728, the Supreme Court discussed the elements of comparative negligence, and the Court stated: "The ultimate facts in a comparative negligence case embrace only negligence, causation and the percentages of negligence attributed to the plaintiff and defendant. (Citations omitted). A plaintiff cannot be held to be contributorily negligent unless his negligence is causally connected to the plaintiff's injury."

In Acculog the Court explains, a page 730, that: "We are not concerned in comparative negligence law with the cause of the damages, but with the cause of the injury instead.

"The term injury is sometimes used in the sense of damage, as including the type of harm or loss for which compensation is sought and has been defined as damage resulting from an unlawful act; but in strict legal significance, there is, properly speaking, a material distinction between the two terms, in that injury means something done against the right of the party, producing damage, whereas damage is the harm, detriment, or loss sustained by reason of the injury."

In that case, the Court determined that the cause of a truck fire was the injury and the loss to the truck and its contents

was the damage. And that, although the jury had found that the plaintiff was contributorily negligent, the Court set aside the verdict on the grounds that there was no evidence that the plaintiff had in any way caused the truck fire.

So it is in the case now before the Court. The plaintiff did nothing to prevent or hinder the attorney from filing the financing statements to perfect its secured interests in the accounts receivable of United Fiberglass. The evidence is uncontroverted that the attorneys were aware of the need to file the financing statements; that the plaintiff was not aware of such a need; that the plaintiff was relying upon the security for the payment of the deferred purchase price; that the attorneys did not advise the plaintiff of the need to file the statements; and that, in fact, no statements were ever filed.

Therefore, there being no evidence that the plaintiff was contributorily negligent in the failure to file the financing statements, the jury verdict in that regard should be set aside.

II.

The defense did not put on any evidence to reduce or mitigate the damages alleged by the plaintiff.

It is uncontradicted in the record that during the period between September 1984 and February 1985, while United fiberglass was in default, the accounts receivable over which the plaintiff's security would have applied was approximately \$190,000.00 to \$240,000.00.

It is evident from the disparity between the state of the

evidence and the finding of the jury that the jury's decision in assessing damages was prejudiced by its assessment of liability.

Therefore, the finding limiting the plaintiff to \$84,000.00 in damages should be set aside also.

III.

The trial court excluded the affidavit of R. Bailie and evidence of his conversations with the plaintiff after his deposition.

At trial the defense relied upon both the oral and deposition testimony of R. Bailie as evidence that the plaintiff knew that its rights under paragraph 6.03 were subject to the lien of Sovran Bank (RT. Vol. 5 of 6 days, pages 50-51 and 63-64).

Subsequent to the deposition and prior to trial, R. Bailie had given an affidavit to the plaintiff further explaining his testimony which supported the plaintiff's position that it did not know that its rights under 6.03 were subject to the liens of the bank. However, when the plaintiff attempted to introduce such testimony and affidavit the Court excluded it. This was error.

Rule 613, Utah Rules of Evidence, permits the use of such testimony and affidavits as long as the witness has the opportunity to explain or deny the statement and the opposing party has the opportunity to cross examine the witness.

Mr. Bailie was present at trial; he would have been able to explain or deny the statements; and he was subject to the

examination of the defense counsel. Therefore, his statements should have been admitted.

Rule 103, Utah Rules of Evidence, states in pertinent part that: "Error may not predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right is affected, and

(1) ...

(2) Offer of Proof. In case the ruling is one excluding evidence, the substance of the evidence was made known to the court by offer or was apparent from the context within which the question was asked."

The defense relied principally upon two witnesses for its defense that the plaintiff had notice of its rights under 6.03. One of those witnesses was Mr. Bailie and the other was Dwight Williams. Since Mr. Bailie was a disinterested witness, the exclusion of his testimony favorable to the plaintiff was prejudice, and the jury's finding that the plaintiff had been advised of his rights under 6.03 should be set aside.

IV.

An essential element of the plaintiff's case was its burden to show how it would have benefited had it known its rights under paragraph 6.03.

Where the error is an omission, the test of causation is: had the attorney performed the act, would the plaintiff have benefited. Dunn v. Mckay, Burton, McMurray & Thurman, 584 p2d. 894, 895 (Utah 1978); Legal Malpractice, Section 102.

During the course of the trial, when the plaintiff attempted

to show how the agreement could have been changed had it known that its rights under 6.03 were subject to the lien of Sovran Bank, the Court sustained the objection of the defense, thus precluding the plaintiff from a full and fair hearing on the merits of its claim.

The court's exclusion of evidence of what the plaintiff could have done had it known the true nature of its rights under paragraph 6.03 was prejudicial in that the plaintiff was precluded from presenting a full and complete case.

Therefore, the verdict in this regard should be set aside and the matter remanded for an new trial.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the jury verdict finding the plaintiff 50% negligent was not supported by the evidence and was improper as a matter of law and should be set aside and new trial ordered.

The jury's reduction of the damages from that shown by the evidence was arbitrary and capricious and should be set aside and a new trial ordered.

The Courts exlcusion of evidence regarding how the plaintiff would have modified the agreement had it known that its rights under paragraph 6.03 were subject to the liens of Sovran Bank was prejudicial error, and the verdict in that regard should be set aside and a new trial ordered on that issue.

Further, the Courts exlcusion of the testimony of the R. Bailie and his affidavit given to the plaintiff subsequent to his

deposition was prejudicial to the plaintiff's case entitling the plaintiff to an new trial.