1989

Western Fiberglass, Inc. v. Kirton, McConkie & Bushnell : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Western's case centers on two acts of alleged malpractice: (1) the alleged failure of Kirton to inform Western that Western's priority in certain equipment was subordinate to a bank, and (2) Kirton's alleged failure to perfect a security interest in accounts receivable of United Fiberglass. The jury found that Western had been told that the bank would have a superior interest in the equipment. The jury also found that Kirton had a duty to perfect the security interest in the accounts receivable, but that Western was 50 percent negligent because of the actions Western took.

Western appeals the jury's findings on both the equipment and the accounts receivable claims. With respect to the equipment claim, Western alleges prejudicial error because the judge refused to admit into evidence an affidavit of Robert Bailie, and the judge refused to admit into evidence certain testimony of Ivan Radman concerning actions Western claims it would have taken had it "known" that its right to repossess the equipment would be subordinate to the rights of the bank.

Western's claims about the Bailie affidavit are unfounded for three reasons. First, Mr. Bailie was on the stand at the request of Western, and as such, Western had the opportunity to question Mr. Bailie about the substance of the affidavit. Second, Western did not preserve the issue for appeal by making a proffer. Rule 103 of the Utah Rules of Evidence clearly requires the party to preserve any evidentiary issues by revealing the substance of the evidence to the court. Third, Western offered no reason why the affidavit should be admitted into evidence. Affidavits are classic examples of hearsay evidence, and Western has claimed no exception to the hearsay rule that would justify admission of this document into evidence.

Western's allegations of error, as they relate to the exclusion of the Radman testimony, have even less basis. Not only did Western fail to make a proffer, which is grounds in and of itself for rejecting Western's argument, but the issue is moot. The jury found that Western was told that its right to repossess the equipment would be subordinate to that of the bank. There is evidence to support this finding. In light of the jury's finding, the exclusion of any additional testimony regarding what Western "would have done had it known that its claim would be subordinate to that of the bank" at best constitutes harmless error.

With respect to the accounts receivable claim, Western claims two errors: (1) that the jury's finding that the plaintiff was 50 percent negligent is not supported by the evidence, and

(2) that the jury's determination of the amount of damages is not supported by the evidence. Kirton agrees that the jury's determination of the amount of damages is unsupportable, but, unlike Western, Kirton claims there is no competent evidence of damages. The only evidence that Western introduced to prove damages was the balance sheet showing the book amount of accounts receivable. Western introduced no evidence showing that the accounts receivable had a fair market value equal to the value shown on the balance sheet. As for the question of whether competent evidence exists to support the finding of 50 percent comparative negligence, the transcript is replete with testimony upon which the jury could base its finding, including Western's refusal to permit Kirton to attend the closing, Western's attempt to reduce attorney's fees by insisting that United's counsel file the financing statements (as opposed to Kirton), and Western's release/subordination of its security interest in the accounts receivable.

Kirton has filed a cross appeal in this case. Section 16-10-4(2)(c) of the Utah Business Corporation Act requires a corporation to indemnify its agent whenever the corporation sues the agent and the agent prevails. The jury found that an agency relationship existed between Kirton and Western. Kirton also prevailed in the suit. As such, Kirton should be awarded its costs and fees incurred in defending this action.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE BAILIE AFFIDAVIT WAS PROPERLY EXCLUDED FROM EVIDENCE.

Western claims that the trial judge committed prejudicial error by refusing admission of the affidavit of Robert Bailie into evidence. Western's argument fails, however, because (1) Robert Bailie was called by Western as a witness and Western had ample opportunity to ask questions about the substance of the affidavit; (2) Western failed to preserve the issue on appeal by making a proffer of evidence; and (3) Western offered no grounds to the trial judge for admitting this hearsay testimony into evidence.

A. Prejudicial Error Did Not Occur Because Western Had the Opportunity to Examine the Affiant About the Substance of His Affidavit.

Rule 103(a) of the Utah Rules of Evidence states that an error may not be predicated upon a ruling that excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected. At the time Western attempted to introduce the affidavit of Robert Bailie into evidence, Mr. Bailie was sitting on the witness stand, having been called by Western in its case. Although the Court refused to permit the affidavit into evidence, nothing prevented Western from questioning Mr. Bailie about the subject matter of the affidavit. Vol. 509 at 63-65.

The law is clear that prejudicial error does not occur when the offering party has an opportunity to have the same

evidence admitted through other means. Dahnken, Inc., of Salt Lake City v. Wilmarth, 726 P.2d 420 (Utah 1986). See also, First Realty & Inv. Company, Inc., vs. Rubert, 100 Idaho 493, 600 P.2d 1149 (1979). There was no objection to Western questioning Mr. Bailie about the subject of his affidavit. Western cannot now complain because it did not take advantage of an opportunity available to it.

B. Western's Failure to Make an Offer of Proof Precludes an Appeal.

Rule 103(a)(2) of the Utah Rules of Evidence requires a party to make an offer of proof to the Court, or make the character of the evidence apparent from the context of the questions asked, in order to preserve for appeal the question of whether exclusion of the evidence was proper. This Court has enforced this rule literally. See, e.g., State v. Rammel, 721 P.2d 498 (Utah 1986); Hill v. Hartog, 658 P.2d 1206 (Utah 1983); Bradford v. Alvey & Sons, 621 P.2d 1240 (Utah 1980).

Western failed to preserve for appeal its contention that the trial court improperly excluded the affidavit of Mr. Bailie. Attached as Addendum 1 is a copy of that portion of the transcript from the attempted introduction of the affidavit to the point where Western rested its case (three pages). Western made no offer of proof regarding the purpose of introducing the affidavit into evidence. Vol. 509 at 63-65 (Addendum 1). Further, Western failed to ask additional questions that would have indicated the purpose of introducing the affidavit as evidence. Id.

C. Western Offered the Trial Court No Exception to the Hearsay Rule, And As Such the Exclusion Was Proper.

The Utah Rules of Evidence require the exclusion of hearsay evidence unless it fits within one of the listed exceptions. Utah R. Evid. 802. Mr. Bailie's affidavit clearly constitutes hearsay because it concerned a statement made by him other than while testifying at trial. Id., Rule 801(c). Western has offered no basis for admission of this hearsay, either to the trial judge or to this Court. Vol. 509 at 63-65 (Addendum 1). Western has the burden of showing that the hearsay is admissible, and it cannot now complain that it failed to give any basis to the trial court for admitting the hearsay.

II.

THE EXCLUSION OF THE RADMAN TESTIMONY WAS AT BEST HARMLESS ERROR, AND IN ANY EVENT WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL.

Western claims that it was prohibited from introducing the testimony of Mr. Radman, as president of Western, with respect to how Western would have changed the sales contract had Western known that it could not repossess the equipment free of other liens. Western claims that the testimony was essential in proving one of the elements of its case, namely, the element of causation.

A. The Issue of Whether the Testimony Should Have Been Excluded Is Moot Because the Jury Found That Kirton Did Not Breach Its Duty.

By way of background, the plaintiff in a legal malpractice case must prove each and every one of the following elements in order to establish the cause of action:

- (1) That an attorney-client relationship existed;
- (2) That the attorney had a duty to the client;
- (3) That the attorney failed to perform the duty;
- (4) That the client suffered damages; and
- (5) That the attorney's negligence proximately caused the damage to the client.

Stanaland v. Brock, 109 Wash. 2d 675, 747 P.2d 464 (1987);
Phillips v. Clancy, 152 Ariz. 415, 733 P.2d 300 (Ct. App. 1986);
Chocktoot v. Smith, 280 Or. 567, 571 P.2d 1255 (1977); R. Mallen
and V. Levit, Legal Malpractice § 657 (2d Ed. 1981) (hereinafter
referred to as "Legal Malpractice").

Western claims that it needed the testimony of Mr. Radman in order to establish what its position would have been had Kirton performed properly. While it is true that the element of causation requires the plaintiff to show that it would have benefited had the attorney performed properly,² that inquiry is moot in this appeal because the jury found that Kirton did perform properly. Vol. 510 at 81-82. In other words, Western appeals on the ground that it was precluded from introducing evidence that damages were proximately caused by the alleged breach of

²Dunn v. McKay, Burton, McMurray & Thurman, 584 P.2d 894 (Utah 1978)(appropriate to inquire as to what the plaintiff's position would have been if the attorney had performed the act properly; Young v. Bridwell, 20 Utah 2d 332, 437 P.2d 686, 689 (1968)(in order to establish a cause of action against an attorney for failing to advise the plaintiff of the right to appeal, plaintiff would have to show that there was a reasonable likelihood of reversing the judgment and that it would have benefited the plaintiff).

duty. But in fact no breach of duty ever occurred. Western failed to prove a critical element of its case (i.e., a breach of duty), and any error of the trial judge relating to the exclusion of Mr. Radman's testimony -- which would have gone to the proof of a different element of the cause of action -- constitutes harmless error.

The record is replete with evidence to support the jury's finding that Kirton did not breach its duty of care as it applies to the equipment claim. See, e.g., Vol. 508 at 162 (Dan McCormack); Vol. 509 at 162 (Robert Bailie); Vol. 508 at 101 (Mr. Williams). Furthermore, Western has not challenged the jury's finding on this point in its appeal.

B. Western Has Not Preserved the Issue for Appeal Because It Failed to Make an Offer of Proof.

As noted earlier in this brief, Rule 103 of the Utah Rules of Evidence requires a party to make a proffer of evidence in order to preserve for appeal a question regarding the propriety of a judge's decision to exclude evidence. See pages 13 to 14, supra, for a discussion of Rule 103. Kirton objected to the Radman testimony on the grounds that the question called for speculation on the part of the witness. The court sustained the objection. In order to preserve the issue for appeal, Rule 103 required Western to make an offer of the evidence so that the court could review the evidence and determine whether the basis for the objection was well founded. Western's failure to do so

means that it is now precluded from appealing the ruling because there is no evidence in the record to support its claim that a substantial right of the party was affected. Addendum 2 is that portion of the transcript wherein Western attempted to introduce the testimony of Mr. Radman on this issue. Vol. 510 at 27-28.

III.

THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE JURY'S FINDING THAT WESTERN WAS 50 PERCENT NEGLIGENT ON ITS ACCOUNTS-RECEIVABLE CLAIM.

The jury found that Kirton had a duty to file a financing statement in order to perfect a security interest in United's accounts receivable, and that Kirton breached that duty. The jury also found that Western was 50 percent negligent in any loss resulting from the failure to perfect. Western has appealed the jury's finding of contributory negligence on the grounds that the evidence does not support the finding.

There can be no doubt that contributory negligence is a defense in a legal malpractice claim. Helmbrecht v. St. Paul Insurance Co., 122 Wis. 2d 94, 362 N.W.2d 118 (1985); Hansen vs. Wightman, 14 Wash. App. 78, 538 P.2d 1238 (Ct. App. 1978); Ishmael v. Millington, 241 Cal. App. 2d 520, 50 Cal. Rptr. 592 (Ct. App. 1966); Legal Malpractice, § 351. Indeed, Western does not dispute this principle of law, as is evidenced by its failure to object to the jury instructions on contributory negligence. What Western apparently argues is that the nature of Kirton's breach was such

that Western could not be contributorily negligent as a matter of law. However, none of the cases cited by Western stand for that proposition. For example, in Theobald v. Byers, 193 Cal. App.2d 147, 13 Cal. Rptr. 864, 866 (Ct. App. 1961), the court held that "the trial court was correct in holding that contributory negligence could properly be considered a defense. . . ." The court ruled for the plaintiff in this case only because the facts did not support a finding of contributory negligence.

Similarly, Practical Offset, Inc. v. Davis, 83 Ill. App. 3d 566, 404 N.E.2d 516 (1980), another case cited by Western, addresses only the issue of whether sufficient evidence existed to support the trial court's granting of summary judgment. The issue of contributory negligence was not addressed by the court. The only apparent relevance of Practical Offset to the case at hand is that both involved the failure to file a financing statement and in both cases the trier of fact found that the attorneys had acted negligently. The difference, however, is that in the case at hand the defendant was able to prove contributory negligence, and in Practical Offset there is no indication that contributory negligence was even raised as a defense.

In summary, Western has offered no authority or reason for the proposition that the doctrine of contributory negligence should not apply in the current case. Furthermore, if Western seriously asserts this theory, it should have objected to the jury instructions on contributory negligence. Rule 51 of the Utah

Rules of Civil Procedure prohibits a party from assigning as error the giving of a jury instruction unless the party objects and states the grounds for objection. While an appeals court is not precluded from examining the question, this Court has held that it will not entertain a review absent unusual circumstances and a compelling reason. E. A. Strout W. Realty Agency, Inc. v. W. C. Foy & Sons, 665 P.2d 1320 (Utah 1983); State vs. Bell, 563 P.2d 186 (Utah 1977); Williams v. Lloyd, 16 Utah 2d 427, 403 P.2d 166 (1965). Western has given no such reason.

With respect to Western's claim that the record does not support the jury's finding, the standard rule of appellate review of a jury's verdict is that the verdict will not be disturbed if there is any reasonable support in the evidence. Uintah Pipeline Corp. v. White Superior, 546 P.2d 885 (Utah 1976); Barlow Upholstery & Furniture v. Emmel, 533 P.2d 900 (Utah 1975). In this case, the record contains more than reasonable support for the jury's finding of contributory negligence. For example, Western complains that it was damaged because it did not have a perfected security interest in the accounts receivable. The evidence is clear, however, that Western had specifically subordinated to Sovran Bank, the only other entity with a security interest in the accounts receivable. When Sovran finally foreclosed, there was not enough money to discharge the debt owed to it. Vol. 509 at 10-13. The fact Western had not perfected its security interest did not mean that Western could not foreclose on

the collateral. Vol. 508 at 41-42, 131-132, 172. Perfection only establishes the relative priorities among the parties claiming an interest in the collateral. Vol. 508 at 76-77, 91. For some reason, however, Western did not foreclose. Western's subordination of its security interest and its failure to exercise its remedy against the collateral can be found by a jury as negligence and as contributing to the damages Western suffered. See, e.g., Fisk v. Newsum, 9 Wash. App. 650, 513 P.2d 1035 (Ct. App. 1973).

Western also contributed to its own damages by unreasonably restricting its attorneys and by ignoring their advice. The record shows that Kirton was not asked to handle the transaction, but instead only to render advice on specific questions. Vol. 507 at 51-53, 58, 61-62; Vol. 508 at 63-64; Vol. 509 at 30-31, 34-35, 128-130, 153-157, 164-165. Western did not have Kirton involved in negotiating the transaction. Id. Indeed, Western had numerous telephone calls, meetings, and correspondence directly with United's counsel. Vol. 507 at 61-79; Exhs. 2-P, 3-P, 8-D, 52-D, 102-D, and 123-D. Western refused to follow its attorneys' advice to have a lawyer attend the closing to make certain that the details were properly handled. Vol. 508 at 88-89, 118-119. Western preferred instead to let United's counsel handle the details, including the filing of a financing statement. Vol. 508 at 88. All of these restrictions and limitations occurred because Western was extremely sensitive to legal fees. Vol. 508 at

130-131; Exhs. 111-P, 123-D. Such sensitivity has a risk, however, and the jury could reasonably find that Western's actions in limiting its attorneys and its own involvement in the transaction was negligent and contributed to the loss suffered by Western.

The courts have held that such actions on the part of a client can constitute contributory negligence. For example, the Washington Court of Appeals stated in Hansen v. Wightman, 14 Wash. App. 78, 538 P.2d 1238 (Ct. App. 1975) that a client can be contributorily negligent by failing to provide information to the attorney or by undertaking a matter and not handling it correctly. See also, Fisk v. Newsum, 9 Wash. App. 650, 513 P.2d 1035 (Ct. App. 1973). And in California, the Court of Appeals ruled in Theobald v. Byers, 193 Cal. App.2d 147, 13 Cal. Rptr. 864, 866 (Ct. App. 1961), that a client can be contributorily negligent if the client fails to follow the attorney's advice. In the words of the court:

A patient will thus be barred from recovery for medical malpractice where the patient has disobeyed medical instructions given by a doctor or dentist or has administered home remedies to an injury without the aid of medical advice. There would seem to be no reason whatever why the same rule should not be applicable in a legal malpractice action where there is evidence that a client chose to disregard the legal advice of his attorney. In our opinion, any other rule would be grossly unfair.

The evidence must be construed in the light most favorable to the verdict. Bezner v. Continental Dry Cleaners,

Inc., 548 P.2d 898 (Utah 1976). The record shows that the jury had ample basis for finding Western contributorily negligent, and this Court should affirm its verdict.

IV.

THE JURY VERDICT ON THE AMOUNT OF DAMAGES SHOULD BE OVERTURNED BECAUSE WESTERN FAILED TO PROVE THE AMOUNT OF ITS DAMAGES.

Western has appealed the jury's finding as to the amount of damages. In light of the jury's verdict finding Western 50% negligent, this Court does not need to address the issue of damages. If this Court does address damages, then Kirton agrees with Western that no evidence exists in the record to support the jury's damage award of \$84,000.00. However, unlike Western, Kirton claims that the record shows no competent evidence of damages.

As noted earlier in this brief,³ a plaintiff must prove all of the elements of a legal malpractice cause of action in order to prevail. One of those elements is the existence of damages. The amount of damages must be proven with reasonable certainty, or the plaintiff cannot prevail. Dunn v. McKay, Burton, McMurray & Thurman, 584 P.2d 894, 896 (Utah 1978). This Court has the power to overturn a jury finding if it believes the award is based on conjecture or speculation. Bodon v. Suhrmann, 8 Utah 2d 42, 327 P.2d 826 (1958).

³See pages 15-16, supra.

The sole evidence Western introduced to prove damages was a balance sheet showing the dollar amount owed by debtors of United and the approximate amount of the loan to Sovran Bank (the entity to whom Western subordinated its interest in the accounts receivable). Western's argument is that the difference between the two is the amount of damages it suffered. Western's evidence of damages does not adequately prove its case. Western has not, for example, introduced any evidence to establish the accuracy or credibility of the balance sheet, such as evidence that an audit was performed. Vol. 509 at 21-29, 53-59. Western has not established that it could have completed a foreclosure action within the time period of the evidence introduced. Western introduced no evidence that the fair market value of the accounts receivable was equal to its book value. And Western introduced no evidence that the accounts receivable were collectible. In other words, Western has not shown the value of the security interest lost; it has only introduced evidence as to the face amount of the accounts receivable. The face amount of the accounts receivable is an improper measure of damages.

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